A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court violated Mr. Feld's Fourteenth Amendment right 

to the presumption of innocence and article I, section 22 right to appear 

and defend in person by ordering him to wear shackles during trial. 

2. The trial court violated Mr. Feld's right to counsel under the 

Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and RCW 10.77.020 by holding a 

competency hearing in the absence of his attorney. 

3. The convictions on counts one and two violate Mr. Feld's Fifth 

Amendment right to be free from double jeopardy. 

4. The trial court violated Mr. Feld's Sixth Amendment right to 

present a defense by excluding evidence of the alleged victim's prior acts 

of violence, offered to show Mr. Feld's reasonable fear and support his 

claim of self-defense. 

5. The trial court erred and violated Mr. Feld's rights under article 

I, section 7 by denying his motion to suppress recordings of private 

telephone conversations he had with his wife. 

6. The trial court erred and violated Mr. Feld's right to due 

process by denying his request to include the absence of self-defense in 

the "to convict" instructions for counts one through four. 
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7. The trial court erred in overruling Mr. Feld's objection to 

Instruction 3, because the instruction misstated the definition of proof 

beyond a reasonable doubt. 

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. Because shackling a defendant infringes the Fourteenth 

Amendment right to the presumption of innocence and article I, section 22 

right to appear and defend in person, courts may not order defendants 

restrained except in extraordinary circumstances where there is a 

compelling need to do so. Here, the court ordered Mr. Feld to wear leg 

irons which were visible to the jury on the basis that a jail guard said he 

was concerned for the safety of defense attorneys in light of Mr. F eld' s 

prior verbal outbursts. The defense attorneys vigorously opposed 

shackling, noting Mr. Feld had never assaulted or threatened them in the 

two years they had worked with him, and Mr. Feld had never escaped or 

attempted to do so. Did the trial court violate Mr. Feld's constitutional 

right to appear free from restraints, requiring reversal and remand for a 

new trial? 

2. A defendant has a constitutional right to counsel at every 

critical stage of proceedings, including competency hearings. The 

complete denial of counsel at a critical stage is structural error requiring 

reversal. Two and a half months after one judge found Mr. Feld 
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incompetent to stand trial, another judge held a hearing on the State's 

motion to find Mr. Feld competent. Mr. Feld's attorney slid off the road 

in a snowstorm en route to the hearing, and called his office to have 

someone ask the court to reschedule the hearing. The court declined to 

continue the hearing, and found Mr. Feld competent in his attorney's 

absence. Did the trial court deprive Mr. Feld of his constitutional right to 

counsel, requiring reversal and remand for a new trial? 

3. The Fifth Amendment guarantees the right not to be punished 

twice for the same offense, and both this Court and the Supreme Court 

have reversed convictions under the Double Jeopardy Clause where 

defendants have been convicted of both assault and attempted murder for 

the same acts. Mr. Feld was convicted of attempted murder on count one 

based on allegations that he chased his neighbor off of his property with a 

gun and pulled the trigger, and he was convicted of assault on count two 

based on allegations that he chased his neighbor off of his property with a 

gun. Do the two convictions violate Mr. Feld's Fifth Amendment right to 

be free from double jeopardy? 

4. The Sixth Amendment guarantees a defendant the right to 

present a defense, which includes the right to introduce relevant evidence 

supporting the defense. Evidence of an alleged victim's prior acts of 

violence, which are known by the defendant, is relevant to a claim of self-
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defense. In this case, in which the jury was instructed on self-defense, the 

court excluded evidence of the alleged victim's prior acts of violence 

which were known by Mr. Feld. Did the trial court violate Mr. Feld's 

Sixth Amendment right to present a defense? 

5. Article I, section 7 of the Washington Constitution prohibits the 

invasion of private affairs absent authority of law. Without a warrant, the 

government recorded telephone conversations Mr. Feld had with his wife 

while Mr. Feld was in jail. Did the trial court err in denying the motion to 

suppress the recordings, because the recording of private conversations 

without authority of law violates the state constitution? 

6. Where the evidence supports a claim that the defendant acted in 

self-defense, the absence of self-defense becomes an essential element of 

the charge that the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt. In 

Washington, the "to convict" instruction must contain all of the elements 

of the crime. Here, the absence of self-defense was an element the State 

had to prove beyond a reasonable doubt as to counts one through four, but 

the trial court denied Mr. Feld's request to include that element in the "to 

convict" instructions. Did the trial court err in omitting the absence of 

self-defense from the "to convict" instructions? 

7. The role of the jury is to decide whether the prosecution met its 

burden of proof, and it misleads the jury to encourage it to search for "the 
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truth." Over Mr. Feld's objection, the court instructed the jury that it 

could find the State met its burden of proof if it had "an abiding belief in 

the truth of the charge." Where both this Court and the Supreme Court 

have held it is not the jury's job to determine the truth, did the court 

misstate the burden of proof by focusing the jurors on whether they 

believed the charge was true? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Charles Feld and his neighbor, Stephen Callero, had a dispute over 

$150. Mr. Callero believed Mr. Feld owed him this amount, and, after the 

two exchanged hostile voice messages, Mr. Callero decided to go to Mr. 

Feld's house to collect it. Mr. Callero asked his son, Aaron, and his 

neighbor, Tim Hanby, to accompany him. 4/12/12 RP 110-15. 

Callero and Hanby went together in Hanby's truck, and Aaron 

Callero drove separately. After the three arrived at Mr. Feld's house, 

Hanby and Stephen Callero got out of the truck and approached the porch. 

Hanby was armed with a fish club. 4/12/12 RP 119; 4/13/12 RP 74-77. 

Mr. Feld and his wife came out on the porch, and "emphatically" 

asked the visitors to leave. 4/13/12 RP 69, 101; 4/18/12 RP 147. They did 

not. Instead, Hanby raised the club and yelled and swore at Mr. Feld to 

give Callero the money. He said, "I'm going to beat that money out of 

you, you motherfucker." 4/18/12 RP 152. Mr. Callero was also yelling at 
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Mr. Feld, who yelled and swore in return. Mr. Feld then went inside. 

4113112 RP 77. Mr. Hanby yelled at him to "get his ass back out." 

4113112 RP 79; 4116112 RP 153. 

Mr. Feld came back outside with a bucket filled with gasoline and 

other substances, again told the men to leave his property, and threw the 

contents of the bucket at Hanby. 4113112 RP 79-81; 4116112 RP 154. He 

had a lighter and threatened Mr. Hanby with it. 4112112 RP 122. 

Undeterred, Hanby continued to swear at Mr. Feld, told him he 

was going to "kick [his] ass," moved toward the porch, and hit Mr. Feld 

with the fish club. 4112112 RP 143; 4/13112 RP 82, 105; 4/16112 RP 154. 

Mr. Feld grabbed some pots from the porch and threw them at the 

intruders, who still did not leave. 4112112 RP 125. Instead, Hanby kept 

"trying to get on the porch so I could kick [Mr. Feld's] ass." 4/13/12 RP 

83. 

Mr. Feld then went inside again, retrieved his gun, and chased the 

two men back to their truck while firing the gun. 4/13112 RP 84-86. 

According to Hanby and Callero, Mr. Feld pointed the gun at Mr. 

Callero's head and pulled the trigger, but it did not fire. 4112112 RP 127; 

4/13112 RP 89-90. Mr. Hanby and the Calleros drove away, and went to 

the fire station. 4/13112 RP 95. While there, they heard that Mr. Callero's 

house was on fire. 4112112 RP 131. 
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Later, two police officers went to the Felds' house. Mr. Feld was 

not home, and the officers stayed on the property and maintained 

surveillance. Mr. Feld called 911 and said that if the police were not off 

his property in 30 minutes they would be killed. Sometime later, a man 

shot a bullet in the vicinity of the officers. 4116112 RP 32-37, 54-55. 

The next morning, Mr. Feld turned himself in to authorities. He 

said he was afraid of the armed intruders, and that he had a right to defend 

himself and his wife on their property. 4116112 RP 12-15. He expressed 

disappointment that the intruders were not in jail. 4116112 RP 17. The 

State eventually charged Mr. Feld with two counts of first-degree 

attempted murder, four counts of first-degree assault, first-degree arson, 

and felony harassment.) CP 83-87. 

Throughout the case, Mr. Feld's attorney had serious doubts about 

Mr. Feld's competency to stand trial. Mr. Feld was sent to Western State 

Hospital multiple times. On December 8, 2010, the court found Mr. Feld 

incompetent to stand trial, and he was once again sent to the hospital. 

12/2311 0 RP 26-43; CP 353. 

On February 24, 2011, the State asked the court to find Mr. Feld 

competent. The weather was bad and Mr. Feld's attorney slid off the road 

) A count of unlawful possession of a firearm was severed and later 
dismissed. 4111112 RP 4-6. 
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en route to the hearing. He called his office to ask someone to request a 

continuance. The judge, who was different from the one who had found 

Mr. Feld incompetent in December, nevertheless denied the continuance 

and proceeded to hold a competency hearing in the absence ofMr. Feld's 

attorney. The court found him competent to be tried. 2/24111 RP 4-12. 

After several additional pretrial and competency hearings, the case 

proceeded to voir dire on February 11,2012. Over Mr. Feld's objections, 

the court ordered him to wear shackles on his legs during the first four 

days oftrial. 4111112 RP 15-26,64-67. 

The Calleros, Tim Hanby, and numerous law enforcement officers 

testified for the State. Mrs. Feld testified for the defense. Although the 

defense was self-defense, the court did not allow Mrs. Feld to testify about 

Mr. Callero's prior acts of violence which caused Mr. Feld to fear him. 

4118112 RP 50-69. 

The court instructed the jury on self-defense, as well as on the 

lesser offenses of second-degree attempted murder and second-degree 

assault. CP 197-255. The jury found Mr. Feld guilty as charged on all 

counts. CP 263-75. The court sentenced him to 866 months in prison. CP 

324. 
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D. ARGUMENT 

1. The trial court violated Mr. Feld's rights under the 
Fourteenth Amendment and article I, section 22 by 
ordering him to wear shackles on his legs during trial. 

a. Over defense objection, the trial court ordered Mr. 
Feld restrained in leg shackles in full view of the 
.l.!!IY. 

During some of the pre-trial competency hearings, Mr. Feld spoke 

out ofturn and ignored the court's request for silence. At those times, the 

court warned Mr. Feld he would be removed ifhe did not stop talking, and 

Mr. Feld was in fact removed once or twice after failing to heed these 

warnings. 5/13110 RP 9. Occasionally, Mr. Feld himself decided not to 

come to court or meet with his attorneys, and instead advised them that 

they should all "kill themselves." 5113110 RP 6; 4111/18 RP 18; CP 67, 

78. But after the court determined he was competent and trial was 

imminent, Mr. F eld became "calm and collected." 4111112 RP 15. 

Shortly before voir dire, the State moved to have Mr. Feld 

restrained during trial. CP 63-68; 4111112 RP 15. Mr. Feld's attorneys 

vigorously opposed the motion. CP 74-78; 4111112 RP 17-22. Although 

Mr. Feld had decided to wear jail clothing during trial, he did not agree to 

be shackled, and his attorney pointed out that to impose restraints would 

violate his rights under article I, section 22. 4111112 RP 16-17. He argued 
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that "shackles makes any defendant look more dangerous than a person 

who is simply injail clothes." 4111112 RP 22. 

Sergeant Ron Coakley, who is ajail guard, testified that his biggest 

concern was for the defense attorneys, Wes Richards and Nancy Neal. 

4111112 RP 23. He said Mr. Feld might "lose control" while in the "midst 

of his verbal tirades." 4111112 RP 23. He would be within arm's reach of 

defense counsel, and might even "make it to your Honor." 4111112 RP 23-

24. 

Mr. Richards noted that he had been representing Mr. Feld for two 

years and Mr. Feld had never tried to attack anyone, either in court or in 

jail, even though at times he was not happy with his defense attorneys or 

the experts with whom he met. 4/11112 RP 25. Defense counsel 

described Mr. Feld as a person "who has bark but no bite." 4111112 RP 

25. Ms. Neal, the other defense attorney, stated that she had met with Mr. 

Feld alone, that he had never been physically aggressive toward her, and 

that she had no concerns for her physical safety. 4111125 RP 26. Mr. 

Richards reiterated that it "would be highly prejudicial" to have Mr. Feld 

shackled. 4111112 RP 26. 

The court nevertheless ordered that Mr. Feld's legs be shackled 

during trial. 4111112 RP 64. The court reasoned: 
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Mr. Feld decided to wear the red suit, so it is no great 
mystery to the jury that Mr. Feld is in custody, since he's 
dressed in the jail garb. And based on the testimony of 
Sergeant Coakley this morning, there are some concerns, 
the Court has some concerns due to some ofMr. Feld's 
outbursts. And the Court, on previous occasions, and due 
to the nature and extent of the charges, and due to the 
nature and extent of some of Mr. Feld' s threats in the 
course of this case, felt that it was, upon balancing, 
appropriate to leave Mr. Feld shackled at the feet for 
security purposes. 

4111112 RP 65. 

The shackles were visible to the jury when Mr. Feld entered the 

courtroom. 4111112 RP 64. During voir dire, one of the jurors noted that 

Mr. Feld "[has] got handcuffs around his ankles." 4111112 RP 144. 

Another potential juror, who used to be a King County Prosecutor, said 

that based on prior experience he or she would draw certain conclusions 

because of what Mr. Feld was wearing. This juror was therefore 

dismissed, but the discussion regarding the impact of Mr. Feld's 

appearance on this juror occurred in front of the other potential jurors. 

4112112 RP 63-64. 

On the fourth day of trial, Mr. Feld decided to wear street clothes. 

The Court ordered that he no longer be shackled, with no discussion of the 

potential danger of leaving him unrestrained. 4/16/12 RP 5. 
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b. A court may not shackle a defendant except in 
extraordinary circumstances because shackling 
undermines the presumption of innocence and the 
right to appear and defend in person. 

"It is a long-standing rule in this jurisdiction that a defendant in a 

criminal case is entitled to appear at trial free from all bonds or shackles 

except in extraordinary circumstances." In re the Personal Restraint of 

Davis, 152 Wn.2d 647,693, 101 P.3d 1 (2004) (internal citation omitted). 

Restraining a defendant infringes upon the Fourteenth Amendment 

right to the presumption of innocence. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; State v. 

Finch, 137 Wn.2d 792, 844, 975 P.2d 967 (1999). 

The principle that there is a presumption of innocence in 
favor of the accused is the undoubted law, axiomatic and 
elementary, and its enforcement lies at the foundation of 
the administration of our criminal law. 

Finch, 137 Wn.2d at 844 (quoting Estelle v. Williams, 425 U.S. 501, 503, 

96 S.Ct. 1691,48 L.Ed.2d 126 (1976)). When the accused appears in 

court in restraints, "the jury must necessarily conceive a prejudice against 

the accused, as being in the opinion of the judge a dangerous man, and one 

not to be trusted, even under the surveillance of officers." Finch, 137 

Wn.2d at 845 (quoting State v. Williams, 18 Wash. 47, 51, 50 P. 580 

(1897)). Thus, the presumption of innocence is subverted by shackles. Id. 

In addition to compromising the presumption of innocence, 

shackling a defendant undermines the "right to appear and defend in 
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person" guaranteed by article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution. 

Const. art. I, § 22. 

The right here declared is to appear with the use of not only 
his mental but his physical faculties unfettered, and unless 
some impelling necessity demands the restraint of a 
prisoner to secure the safety of others and his own custody, 
the binding of the prisoner in irons is a plain violation of 
the constitutional guaranty. 

State v. Hartzog, 96 Wn.2d 383, 398, 635 P.2d 694 (1981) (citing 

Williams, 18 Wash. at 51). 

Thus, in Hartzog, the Court held the Walla Walla County Superior 

Court erred in shackling all defendants accused of having committed 

crimes while prisoners at the penitentiary. Instead, a court must make an 

individualized determination of whether restraints are required in a given 

case. Hartzog, 96 Wn.2d at 400-01. Restraints should be used "only 

when necessary to prevent injury to those in the courtroom, to prevent 

disorderly conduct at trial, or to prevent an escape." Id. at 398. Factors to 

be considered include the seriousness of the charges, the defendant's 

temperament and character, his age and physical attributes, his past record, 

past escapes or attempted escapes, evidence of a present plan to escape, 

threats to harm others or cause a disturbance, self-destructive tendencies, 

the risk of mob violence or of attempted revenge by others, the possibility 

of rescue by other offenders still at large, the size and mood of the 
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audience, the nature and physical security of the courtroom, and the 

adequacy and availability of alternative remedies. Id. at 400 (citing State 

v. Tolley, 290 N.C. 349,368,226 S.E.2d 353 (1976)). "[T]he use of 

handcuffs, shackles, and other fornls of physical restraints should be used 

only as measures of last resort." Finch, 137 Wn.2d at 850. 

c. The shackling order violated Mr. Feld's 
constitutional rights because there were no 
extraordinary circumstances demonstrating a 
compelling need for shackling. 

In this case, the court violated Mr. Feld's constitutional rights by 

ordering him to wear shackles on his legs for the first four days of trial in 

the absence of extraordinary circumstances demonstrating a compelling 

need. Although Mr. Feld was charged with serious crimes, this is far from 

sufficient on its own to justify restraints. In both Finch and Davis, the 

Court reversed death sentences because of improper shackling - even 

though these defendants were charged with the worst crime possible: 

aggravated murder. Davis, 152 Wn.2d at 705; Finch, 137 Wn.2d at 866. 

Nor do the other factors provide a basis for ordering Mr. Feld to 

wear leg irons. Mr. Feld never escaped or attempted to escape. As his 

attorneys emphasized, in the two years they had worked with him, he had 

never attempted to harm them. Nor had he threatened anyone; the State 

acknowledged that Mr. Feld did not threaten to kill anyone but rather 
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expressed his wish that the people he did not like would "kill themselves." 

CP 67, 78. There was no "risk of mob violence" or of attempted revenge 

by others, nor were there any "other offenders still at large." See Hartzog 

at 400. There was simply no demonstrated "impelling necessity" to 

require Mr. Feld to wear leg irons. Finch, 137 Wn.2d at 843. 

Indeed, the trial court appeared to recognize the absence of an 

impelling need to order the leg restraints. It ordered them only because 

Mr. Feld was wearing jail garb, reasoning that shackles would not be 

prejudicial in light of the fact that Mr. F eld was wearing "the red suit." 2 

4111112 RP 65. Four days into trial, when Mr. Feld decided to wear street 

clothes, the court ordered the shackles removed. Thus, it is clear that the 

shackling order was not justified by a compelling need to address a 

security risk. The shackles violated Mr. Feld's constitutional rights. 

In Davis, as here, the defendant wore leg restraints. Davis, 152 

Wn.2d at 678. Davis's attorney did not object, and the Supreme Court 

held that this failure to object constituted ineffective assistance of counsel. 

2 This reasoning is incorrect, and the Supreme Court rejected it in 
Hartzog. There, the superior court assumed shackling did not prejudice 
the jury against defendants because it was well-known that the defendants 
and witnesses were prison inmates, as the crimes alleged were committed 
in prison. The Supreme Court said, "we cannot agree." Hartzog, 96 
Wn.2d at 399-400. Instead, shackling must be justified by an 
individualized determination of dangerousness, not an assumption that 
shackling is not prejudicial because the jury already knows the defendant 
is in jail or prison. See id.

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