69044.2

69044-2

NO. 69044-2-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS – STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON Respondent,

٧.

CHARLES FELD

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, FOR SKAGIT COUNTY

The Honorable Michael E. Rickert, Judge

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

SKAGIT COUNTY PROSECUTING ATTORNEY RICHARD A. WEYRICH, PROSECUTOR

By: MELISSA W. SULLIVAN, WSBA#38067 KAREN PINNELL, WSBA #35729 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Office Identification #91059

Courthouse Annex 605 South Third Mount Vernon, WA 98273 Ph: (360) 336-9460

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

On February 24, 2011, Mr. Feld was in court again after having been re-evaulated yet another time by Western State

Hospital. Mr. Feld was represented by a public defender, Wes Richards, however, due to inclement weather and a car collision, Mr. Richards was not able to make it to court in time for Mr. Feld's in custody hearing regarding the newest competency evaluation. Mr. Adam Yanasak, a fellow public defender from the same office as Wes Richards stood in for Mr. Richards on behalf of Mr. Feld. Mr. Yanasak moved for a continuance, saying in part,

"I am not prepared to adequately address these matters, and if there is an issue with time running out, I don't think there will be any issue though with —Mr. Richards, would I think be agreeable to extending that time or waiving any objections to the speediness of this given that the delay is due to his absence today." 2/24/2011 RP 5.

Mr. Rich Weyrich, the prosecutor handling Mr. Feld's case responded. "Well, your Honor, we are concerned. The time running was set for today which I believe was within the ninety days to see if he could be restored to competency and that began.....it was reset for today's date." 2/24/2011 RP 5. Mr. Yanasak told Mr. Feld on the record that because of weather, Mr. Richards isn't here. Mr. Feld then replied, "I don't care. We can proceed without him." 2/24/2011 RP 6. Mr. Yanasak then informed the court,

"Your Honor, I can let the court know on behalf of Mr. Feld, he's indicated to me that he would like to proceed without Mr. Richards being here, that he would like to be found competent and move this case along to a trial. Those are his representations, your Honor. I, again, don't want to speak on behalf of Mr. Richards, so I recognize it's kind of a delicate situation and trying to balance everybody's rights here, so it's unfortunate the way things came out today."

2/24/2011 RP 6-7.

The court then asked Mr. Weyrich how he would like to proceed. Mr. Weyrich stated, "Well, your Honor, based on the report, which I believe finds Mr. Feld competent, and apparently, acknowledging that, we would have an order signed finding him competent and set new trial dates." 2/24/2011 RP 7.

The court then made the following findings:

"Good. Obviously, your primary attorney, Mr. Richards, is not here today, I believe there are some weather related issues or something, because of the snow, and he's not in court, and Mr. Yanasak is standing in for Mr. Richards, Mr. Yanasak and Mr. Richards work together in the same office, as you probably know. There has been a report returned from Western State Hospital dated February 17th and it says in conclusion: "Mr. Feld appears to have the current ability to have a factual and rational understanding of the charges and the court proceedings he faces. He appears to have the current capacity to communicate with his attorney with a reasonable degree of rational understanding and is able to work with his attorney to assist in his defense. We, therefore, recommend that he return to court to resume adjudication of his pending criminal matter."

Even though the court entered a finding of competency on February 24, 2011, the issue of competency was far from over at that point in the case. Mr. Richards hired Dr. Muscatel to do a separate evaluation for competency on Mr. Feld because defense counsel did not agree with Western State's finding of competency as to the February 2011 order that was entered. It took another year before a full blown competency hearing with witnesses was held before court. On February 27, 2012, a competency hearing was held before Judge Rickert with Mr. Feld being represented by Wes Richards and the State being represented by Rich Weyrich and Russ Brown. 2/27/2012 RP 4-134. The State called Dr. Ray Hendrickson and the defense called Dr. Kenneth Muscatel. At the close of the hearing, the court issued found that Mr. Feld was competent.

In the instant case, Mr. Feld was not denied a right to counsel during a critical stage of his case. While Mr. Richards was not present at the February 24, 2011, hearing in regard to competency, another felony public defender, Mr. Yanasak, was present and was able to assist Mr. Feld. In fact, it is clear from the record that Mr. Feld did not want a continuance of the hearing and clearly wanted to proceed with his case. Furthermore, on March 3, 2011, just one week after the aforementioned order was entered Mr. Richards was

back at work and present in court with Mr. Feld for an omnibus hearing. Mr. Richards could have brought up the prior week's entry of the competency order at that time and made an objection on the record that the court entered the order without his presence, but he declined to do so and instead went through omnibus on Mr. Feld's case. Finally, Mr. Feld was evaluated again for competency after the hearing in question by two other doctors and was found to be competent on February 27, 2012. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in entering the order of competency on February 24, 2011, because Mr. Yanasak was an attorney qualified to assist Mr. Feld and because Mr. Feld himself made it clear he wanted to proceed.

C. THE CONVICTIONS FOR COUNTS TWO AND FOUR SHOULD BE VACATED; RE-SENTENCING IS NOT NECESSARY.

The appellant argues that count two (Assault in the First Degree) should be vacated due to double jeopardy in relationship to count one (Attempted Murder). The trial court found that counts two and four should be considered the same criminal conduct for purposes of sentencing. The State would concede the double jeopardy argument brought forth by the appellant and extend its breadth to include count four, even though the appellant did not

present this argument in her brief. At sentencing, counts two and four were not included in Mr. Feld's offender score, thus they were not considered for purposes of sentencing and neither count added any additional time to Mr. Feld's sentence. Because neither count two nor count four increased Mr. Feld's sentence, Mr. Feld does not need to be remanded back to court for resentencing. The proper remedy would be for this Court to order the trial court vacate counts two and four for purposes of Mr. Feld's criminal history and for purposes of correcting the record.

D. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN EXCLUDING EVIDENCE OF ALLEGED ACTS OF VIOLENCE ON THE PART OF THE VICTIM.

During the trial, Mr. Feld's attorney sought to introduce one alleged act of violence on the part of Mr. Callero, one of Mr. Feld's victims. Mr. Feld sought to introduce this reputation allegation through Mr. Feld's wife, Phyllis Feld, after Tim Hanby, another of Mr. Feld's victims, testified that on the day in question Mr. Callero was gentle, mild-mannered, kind of passive, not a wimp, but a real soft spoken, not aggressive kind of guy. 4/18/2012 RP 53.

The trial judge declined to allow Mr. Feld to present reputation evidence of Mr. Callero based on one occasion through Mrs. Feld and stated:

But you see my point. I've seen that done, where someone else was aware of the incident. Otherwise — I mean, think of the problems you would have in these kinds of cases. You could just bring any number of outside witnesses in to testify of knowledge that so-and-so was a bad actor, oh, yes, by the way, I did tell the defendant that that is the case too. And you could never control that.

4/18/2012 RP 61

The principal requirement is one of relevance. The victim's misconduct must have been of the sort to suggest danger, and the defendant must have been aware of that misconduct at the time the defendant claims to have acted in self-defense. But I believe that it's the defendant that has to so testify. I don't think someone else can testify to the knowledge of prior bad acts and then say, by bootstrap, and I told the defendant, therefore he must have had knowledge too...Even if she did tell Mr. Feld, maybe Mr. Feld is the type that laughed it off and said, I don't care, it didn't scare me a bit, and he didn't have any reasonable apprehension of fear, even if he had knowledge. Mrs. Feld might have had an apprehension of fear, but what if Mr. Feld said I don't care, I'm not afraid of Callero, it doesn't bother me a bit? 4/18/2012 RP 61-62.

The admissibility of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court and an appellate court will not disturb that decision unless no reasonable person would adopt the trial court's view. *State v. Thomas*, 123 Wn.App. 771, 778-79, 98 P.3d 1258 (2004); *State v. Martin*, 169 Wn. App. 620, 281 P.3d 315 (2012). Generally, evidence of a person's character is inadmissible to prove conformity therewith on a particular occasion. ER 404(a). However, an exception to this rule provides that "[e]vidence of a pertinent trait of character of the victim of the crime offered by an accused" is admissible. ER 404(a)(2).

ER 404 provides in pertinent part:

- "(a) Character Evidence Generally. Evidence of a person's character or a trait of his character is not admissible for the purpose of proving that he acted in conformity therewith on a particular occasion, except:
- "(2) Character of Victim. Evidence of a pertinent trait of character of the victim of the crime offered by an accused ..."

However, evidence of specific instances of conduct is admissible only

if the character trait is "an essential element of a charge, claim, or defense." ER 405(b).

A victim's character and prior misconduct in general are excluded from evidence. Our Supreme Court has held that the Sixth Amendment is violated where a defendant is effectively barred from presenting a defense due to the exclusion of evidence. *State v. Jones*, 168 Wn.2d 713, 230 P.3d 576 (2010)(where rape conviction

reversed because defendant precluded from testifying to his version of the act). Thus, where a defendant claims self-defense, courts have admitted evidence of a victim's prior acts of violence to establish a defendant's reason for apprehension and the basis for acting in self-defense. *State v. Cloud*, 7 Wn. App. 211, 218, 498 P.2d 907 (1972). However, in self-defense cases, "specific act character evidence relating to the victim's alleged propensity for violence is not an essential element of self-defense." *State v. Hutchinson*, 135 Wn.2d 863, 887, 959 P.2d 1061 (1998). Furthermore, an individual act does not establish a reputation and therefore was insufficient to characterize the deceased as a violent person. *State v. Adamo*, 120 Wash. 268, 207 P.7 (1922).

In Cloud, the court found that when the reputation of a deceased for violence, turbulence and ferocity is bad and this is shown to have been known by the defendant at the time of the altercation this evidence is admissible to show reason for apprehension and grounds for self-defense by the defendant. Id. If the deceased's reputation for violence was unknown to the defendant at the time of the affray, it is admissible nonetheless to corroborate a defendant's claim that the deceased was the aggressor. Id. However, the court in Cloud also found that an individual act does not

establish a reputation and therefore was insufficient to characterize the deceased as a violent person and held that the trial court properly excluded the proffered evidence as hearsay. *Id.* at 218 (emphasis added).

Like *Cloud*, in the instant case, Mr. Feld wanted to present evidence through the testimony of his wife that on one occasion Mr. Callero allegedy came after someone with a baseball bat. No other alleged instances of violence were proffered by Mr. Feld's attorney. One instance alone is insufficient to establish that someone has a reputation for violence or a propensity to act in any particular way. Additionally, without Mr. Feld's testimony, we don't know if he even knew of the alleged act of Mr. Callero with a bat, and if he did know the allegation, when he was told that story. Furthermore, we have no way of knowing without Mr. Feld testifying whether the allegation had any effect on his mind-set and actions. This Court should find as the court did in *Cloud*, that the trial court acted properly in excluding the allegation that Mr. Callero had a reputation for violence.

Furthermore, any error is harmless. The trial judge offered to strike the statement made by Mr. Hanby in regard to Mr. Callero being soft-spoken and mild-mannered, but Mr. Feld's attorney declined this offer of the court. 4/18/2012 RP 57. In addition, Mr.

Feld's statements to officers about Mr. Callero were admitted as evidence and as the court stated that evidence indicated Mr. Feld's opinion: "Mr. Callero's propensity, and that is, Mr. Callero is a drunken, drug-addicted bully, who has bullied people on the island for a long time." 4/18/2012 RP 57. Mr. Feld's confession was also admitted into evidence through testimony of Deputy Moses. 4/16/12 RP 170-4/17/2012 RP 18. Given all of the evidence against Mr. Feld, any error here was harmless.

E. MR. FELD HAD NO PRIVACY RIGHTS AS TO HIS JAIL PHONE CALLS; THUS HIS MOTION TO SUPPRESS THOSE CALLS BASED ON A PRIVACY EXPECTATION WAS PROPERLY DENIED.

Mr. Feld contends that jail phone calls are private affairs that, if recorded without a warrant, the recording violates article I, section 7 of the Washington State Constitution. This Court has repeatedly rejected this very argument. See *State v. Hag*, 166 Wn. App. 221, 268 P.3d 997,rev. denied, 174 Wn.2d 1004 (2012); *State v. Archie*, 148 Wn. App. 198,199 P.3d 1005, rev. denied, 166 Wn.2d 1016 (2009). In any event, the appellant's legal claim is without merit. In *State v. Modica*, the Supreme Court held that jail phone calls are not private and that any expectation of privacy in the recorded calls is not reasonable. *State v. Modica*,164 Wn.2d

83, 186 P.3d 1062 (2008). In *State v. Archie*, supra, this Court held that the recording of jail phone calls does not violate article I, section 7 of the Washington Constitution. See also, *State v. Hall*, 168 Wn.2d 726,729 n.I, 230 P.3d 1048 (2010) ("Phone calls made from the King County jail are automatically recorded. Given that all parties are very clearly informed of this, we held this practice does not violate a prisoner's statutory right to privacy").

Mr. Feld argues that since banking records, telephone call records and garbage are private affairs within the meaning of article I, section 7, then a jail phone conversation must also be a private affair. But in none of the cases cited was the person alleging an article I, section 7 violation a jail inmate with a reduced expectation of privacy. See *Modica*, 164 Wn.2d at 88 (citing *State v. Campbell*, 103 Wn.2d 1, 23, 691 P.2d 929 (1984)). Further, in none of these cases cited was the aggrieved party fully aware that the item they considered private was in fact going to be searched-as is the case with jail phone calls. In determining whether a privacy interest merits article I, section 7 protection, the court asks several questions: whether the information obtained reveals intimate or discrete details of a person's life, what expectation of privacy a person has in the information sought, and whether there are

historical protections afforded to the perceived interest. Archie, 148 Wn. App. at 202 (citing State v. Jorden, 160 Wn.2d 121, 126, 156) P.3d 893 (2007)). The person alleging a violation of article I, section 7 must prove that their expectation of privacy is "reasonable." State v. Miles, 160 Wn.2d 236, 156 P.3d 864 (2007). State v. Gunwall, 106 Wn.2d 54, 720 P.2d 808 (1986). State v. Boland, 115 Wn.2d 571,800 P.2d 1112 (1990). The individual must first, by their conduct, exhibit a subjective expectation of privacy, and second, this subjective expectation of privacy must be objectively reasonable. State v. Christensen, 153 Wn.2d 186, 193, 102 P .3d 789 (2004). As this Court held in Archie, jail phone calls do not meet this test, they are "not private affairs deserving of article I, section 7 protection." Archie, at 204. Finally, even if the recordings were inadmissible, any error in the admission of the calls was harmless. Admission of evidence seized in violation of article I, section 7 is harmless error if the reviewing court is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that any rational finder of fact would have reached the same result absent the error. State v. Deal, 128 Wn.2d 693, 703, 911 P .2d 996 (1996). Here, absent the allegedly improperly admitted evidence, the result of the trial would have been the same. The jail recordings were very limited. There

was no "confession" on tape. Considering the extensive eyewitness testimony, the confession that Mr. Feld provided to police and other circumstantial evidence, any error was harmless.

F. THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS WERE NOT ERRONEOUS; THUS MR. FELD WAS NOT DENIED DUE PROCESS.

Mr. Feld contends that the final "abiding belief" sentence of WPIC 4.01 was erroneously given by the court in light of *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 278 P.3d 653 (2012), in which the court found prosecutorial misconduct in closing argument where the prosecutor argued that the function of the jury was to search for the truth.

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